STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 14 2023**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
GEORDI JERELL HEYWARD,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000710

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to move to enforce the plea offer or object to the violation of the plea offer when the State first recommended a sentence of fifteen to twenty years incarceration. In the alternative, if this Court finds that the State did not violate the plea agreement, Petitioner's guilty plea was rendered unknowing and involuntary where he entered his plea based on plea counsel's misstatement of the terms of the plea agreement and where counsel did not afford Petitioner the opportunity to withdraw his plea once the State recommended a specific sentence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted for one count of criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor second degree during the July 2017 term of the Richland County grand jury. App. 49-50. On October 12, 2017, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Alison Renee Lee to enter a guilty plea to the CSC charge. Petitioner was represented by Bakari Sellers. The State was represented by Nicole Simpson. App. 1. In announcing the terms of the plea negotiations to the circuit court Simpson stated,

With respect to the recommendations, Your Honor, the state is dismissing three counts of human trafficking, as well as one count of contributing -- or two counts of contributing to the delinquency of a minor. This was all one incident. He is pleading guilty to this one charge from that incident, and we've agreed to run it concurrent to the probation revocation which will be heard at a later date. Other than that, there are no additional recommendations with respect to the agreements in this case.

App. 3, l. 19-App. 4, l. 3. Simpson also informed the Judge Lee that the case was scheduled for trial that week and that one of Petitioner's co-defendants was cooperating with the State. App. 4, ll. 4-10.

In support of the plea, the State alleged that Petitioner, along with two co-defendants, had been involved in the trafficking of three minor girls who were all fifteen years old. The minors were runaways who alleged that they had been held against their will in different hotel rooms, given drugs, and forced to have sex with various men. The State characterized Petitioner as "the muscle" of the group who made sure the minors did not leave the hotel and who kept watch over them. Regarding the CSC charge, Minor Three asserted that she went into a bathroom with Petitioner, and they began to have sex. She told Petitioner it hurt and to stop but he did not. Petitioner admitted to having sex with Minor Three but stated it was consensual, that he stopped when she asked him to, and that he did not know she was underage. App. 12, l. 9-App. 15, l. 20.

After Judge Lee accepted Petitioner's plea, the mother of Minor One gave a victim impact statement requesting that Petitioner be sentenced to the maximum time possible. App. 18, ll. 10-24. The State then requested that Petitioner be sentenced to fifteen to twenty years incarceration. The State based the request for the severe sentence on the facts and nature of the case, that Petitioner was on probation at the time of the incident,<sup>1</sup> and Petitioner's age<sup>2</sup> at the time of the incident. App. 20, ll. 7-12.

Counsel Sellers informed Judge Lee that the plea hearing was the first time that the State referred to Petitioner as "the muscle" and that the State had theorized at one point that Petitioner was the ringleader of the trafficking scheme. However, Counsel Sellers asserted that Petitioner was only present for a matter of hours over the course of the scheme. He further detailed that Minor Three had at one point stated Petitioner was unaware of her age and he provided Judge Lee with a copy of the picture ID that Minor Three had in her possession during the incident. He maintained that Petitioner was not a predator and that he was unaware of Minor Three's age when they had sex. App. 20, l. 14-App. 22, l. 4. After Petitioner's mother and godmother spoke on Petitioner's behalf, Counsel Sellers requested Judge Lee sentence Petitioner to a term of imprisonment between three and five years. Petitioner also addressed Judge Lee stating that he did not know what was going on at the time and he was sorry for his involvement. App. 23, l. 16-App. 27, l. 4.

Just prior to sentencing, Simpson clarified that she referred to Petitioner as "the muscle" based on statements taken from Minor 1 and Minor 2. She then reiterated the State's position

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner was on probation for two counts of strong-arm robbery. He was facing up to fifteen years, non-violent time, on those charges. App. 3, ll. 12-13.

<sup>2</sup> At the time of his guilty plea Petitioner was twenty-five years old. He had been incarcerated for fifteen months at the time he pled guilty. App. 14-17.

that a term of imprisonment between fifteen and twenty years was the “appropriate sentence” considering the “substantial benefit” Petitioner had received in the dismissal of the other charges. App. 27, l. 6-App. 28, l. 6. Counsel Sellers reiterated that Minor Three had made at least one statement in which she stated Petitioner did not know her age and again referenced the picture ID that Minor Three had in her possession at the time of the incident. App. 28, ll. 9-19.

In handing down the sentence Judge Lee stated

What I've heard today seems to imply that while this was one particular incident that occurred, that there was other activity taking place around the same time. And I understand he's pleading to the criminal sexual conduct with a minor under the age of sixteen and that one charge, and that was one offence with that one particular individual ... But I can't ignore that there apparently is some other activity that's taking place. And I understand that those charges are being dismissed, that he's not pleading to those charges, but it certainly involves, seems to involve some activity and not just a situation where he shows up at this place and ends up having sex with someone who's under the age of sixteen. And so[,] I don't think that a three-to-five-year prison time is appropriate under those circumstances. And I am giving him some benefit from the idea that he is -- that there are other charges that are being dismissed, and that that was in exchange for his plea today, and also understanding that it's 85 percent time as well.

App. 29, l. 10-App. 30, l. 11. Judge Lee proceeded to sentence Petitioner to fifteen years imprisonment. App. 30, ll. 12-16.

Counsel Sellers filed a motion to reconsider sentence dated October 18, 2017, wherein he argued for the first time that the State had violated the terms of the plea agreement by making a specific sentencing recommendation. App. 32-33. A hearing was held on the motion to reconsider sentence on December 4, 2017, before Judge Lee. The State was again represented by Nicole Simpson. App. 34. At the hearing Counsel Sellers provided<sup>3</sup> Judge Lee with two emails from the solicitor's office, dated September 7 and October 4, which stated the terms of the plea deal and showed the progression of the plea negotiations. Counsel Sellers argued that the plea

---

<sup>3</sup> These emails were not entered as exhibits during the hearing on the motion to reconsider.

agreement included that the State would not make any recommendation as to sentencing. He informed Judge Lee that he had verbally affirmed the terms of the deal with the State on October 12, the day of the plea, and asserted that the State had violated the terms of the offer when the solicitor asked for a sentence of fifteen to twenty years imprisonment. App. 38, l. 10-App. 39, l. 22.

Simpson responded that the “initial offer” did include the term that there would not be a recommendation by the State. However, defense counsel had submitted a counteroffer to which the State had responded by offering a plea to the CSC charge without repeating the “no recommendation” term. Simpson stated that when she stated the terms of the plea agreement at the hearing, she did not say that the State would not take a position on sentencing. Finally, she argued that Counsel Seller’s should have brought up any issue he had with the plea when it was occurring. App. 39, l. 23-App. 40, l. 20.

Counsel Sellers argued in response that the basic principles of contract law applied and that without expressly revoking the “no recommendation” term that it was carried over from the original offer. App. 40, l. 21-App, 41, l. 8. Simpson stated that in accepting the offer Counsel Sellers said “we accept your offer to plead to the sole charge of CSC second with a minor as well as handle his outstanding probation violation concurrently” which she understood meant that the State would take a position on sentencing. She maintained that if the State was not going to take a position as to the sentence, then she would have stated so when she set forth the terms of the plea at the plea hearing. App. 41, ll. 9-21. Counsel Sellers noted that if the State had intended to take a position regarding sentencing, then it should have expressly stated so in the written communications. He maintained that the only written communication regarding sentencing

included that the State would not make a recommendation and the State should be bound by that writing. App. 42, ll. 2-23.

In ruling on the motion to reconsider, Judge Lee noted that when the plea was presented the State did not make any recommendation and only requested fifteen to twenty years imprisonment after the victim impact statement. Judge Lee recalled that Counsel Sellers had requested three to five years imprisonment which she was not inclined to follow and that she based her sentence upon the facts and Petitioner's pending probation revocation. App. 43, ll. 13-22. Judge Lee also stated that she considered the circumstances in which everything occurred in fashioning the sentence. In ruling on the motion Judge Lee stated,

I'm going to deny the motion. I think it's one of those situations which could be close but given the last statements in the October 4th email that says as to the offer we would be willing to dismiss the human trafficking charges which your client will need to plead to CSC with a minor second degree which says to me, you know, plead straight up to that charge.

App. 45, ll. 5-11. Judge Lee signed an order dated March 21, 2018, denying the motion, and stating that the State had not violated the terms of the plea offer. App. 48.

Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence. After receiving advice from appellate counsel, Petitioner opted to withdraw his direct appeal and proceed directly into post-conviction relief. App. 79, ll. 2-13. Petitioner filed the present PCR application on February 6, 2019. App. 52-60. The State filed a return on February 10, 2020. App. 61-67. PCR Counsel Tara Dawn Shurling filed two amended PCR application on June 14, 2021, in which she raised twenty-two allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary guilty plea. App. 68-73. A hearing was convened before the Honorably George M. McFaddin on June 14, 2021. Petitioner was represented by Counsel Shurling. The State was represented by Megan Jameson. App. 74. Solicitor Nicole Simpson, Counsel Sellers, and Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing. App. 75.

At the start of the hearing the parties, by consent, entered into the record three email chains regarding Petitioner's plea offer as Applicant's Exhibit 1-3. App. 79, l. 22-App. 80, l. 21; App. 229-234.

Simpson testified that she, Luck Campbell, and Lamar Fyall were the prosecuting team in Petitioner's case, and they all worked on the case together. App. 82, ll. 4-10. She confirmed that the September 7 email from Fyall stated the plea offer was for Petitioner to plead guilty to one count of human trafficking and the CSC charge with no recommendation, both sentences to run concurrent to each other and to Petitioner's probation revocation. App. 82, l. 21-App. 83, l. 21. Simpson testified that following further negotiations she sent the October 4 email containing the offer to allow Petitioner to plead to the single count of CSC. The email did not include that all the other charge would be dismissed and that the sentence would be concurrent to the probation revocation, however she testified those aspects of the deal remained in place. App. 90, l. 3-App. 91, l. 20; App. 97, ll. 1-18. Simpson testified that her intent was that Petitioner would plead guilty with no recommendations, meaning it was a "straight up" plea where both parties could ask for the sentence they wanted. App. 94, l. 21-App. 95, l. 7.

Simpson confirmed that in the motion to reconsider and at the hearing on the motion that Counsel Sellers represented that he had verified with her the "no recommendation" term of the plea deal. She did not have an independent recollection of that conversation and testified that she was sure they spoke the morning of the plea, but she could not recall specifics. App. 93, l. 8-App. 94, l. 10. She stated that there were conversations that occurred outside of the emails and that it was made clear during the plea hearing what the terms of the agreement were. App. 98, l. 13-App. 99, l. 8.

On cross-examination, Simpson testified that the email did not specifically say that the State would remain silent but that by stating “no recommendation” someone could think that the State was not making a recommendation expect that the sentences were to be concurrent to probation revocation. App. 110, ll. 11-19. She further testified that when she is making a recommendation, which does not always have to be in respect to the sentence, she makes that recommendation clear. In Petitioner’s case, the recommendation was that the sentence would run concurrent to the probation revocation and that it was “straight up” as to sentencing so either side could ask for what they wanted. App. 110, l. 21-App. 111, l. 21.

Essentially, her testimony was that she understood the terms of the agreement to mean that she would not remain silent on sentencing. App. 112, ll. 8-13. Simpson testified that if Petitioner or Counsel Sellers had a problem with the terms of the plea agreement they could have stood down, discussed matters, and clarified on the record what the agreement was. She maintained that at no point did she say that the State would not take a position with respect to the plea offer. She further stated that “with respect to offers, quite frankly, the offer is what it is on the day.” App. 145, ll. 4-23.

Counsel Sellers testified that he understood the plea offer to be a plea to CSC that would resolve all outstanding charges, and that there would be no recommendation by the State. App. 149, ll. 6-11. He confirmed the terms of the plea agreement with Simpson as he understood them and although he did not remember the details of the conversation, he thought that the State was not going to make a recommendation as to sentencing. App. 150, ll. 3-14. Counsel Sellers testified that he did not object when the State made a sentencing recommendation because he thought he could still get a fair and reasonable sentence from the court despite the recommendation. He testified he strategically asked for a low sentence in the hopes the court

would “split the baby” and sentence Petitioner between 8-10 years. He stated that if he had walked away from the plea at that time Petitioner was facing a seventy-year sentence and was scheduled for trial that week, so he continued with the plea instead of objecting. He acknowledged that he could have made a motion for specific performance, but he had not seen it done before and believed it would have led to the prosecution withdrawing the offer and proceeding to trial. App. 151, l. 13-App. 155, l. 23.

Counsel Sellers admitted that he did not ask Petitioner if he wanted to continue the plea after the State made a sentencing recommendation. He testified that his “decision was whether or not I would take [Petitioner] forward on that day at that particular time with this particular charge or whether or not we would back down, which never crossed my mind...” App. 155, l. 24-App. 157, l. 3. Counsel Sellers stated if he had objected or made a motion to enforce the plea agreement that he believed the plea would have been pulled and trial would have commenced on all the charges. Counsel Sellers testified that he believed he made the best decision for Petitioner at that time. App. 157, l. 4-App. 159, l. 18.

Counsel Sellers testified that he did not think there were any preservation issues in the case. He stated that they were not prejudiced because he filed the motion for reconsideration and therefore the issue was presented to the lower court. He stated that he did not know if not objecting at the hearing was the wrong decision. App. 160, l. 15-App. 161, l. 12. He also testified that the emails referenced in the motion to reconsider were presented to Judge Lee at the hearing. While he could not recall if he entered the emails as exhibits, he stated they were considered by the court and “recapped” in the record, so he did not need to read the emails or publish them because the court had them for consideration. App. 161, l. 15-App. 163, l. 4. Counsel Sellers maintained that the plea terms included that the State would not make a

sentencing recommendation and he asserted that the State had violated the terms of the plea agreement. App. 165, l. 20-App. 166, l. 22.

Counsel Sellers did not recall asking Petitioner if he wanted to continue with the plea but testified that Petitioner did not want to go to trial. App. 171, ll. 13-25. He reiterated numerous times that the plea contained a “no recommendation” term and that the State had violated the plea agreement. App. 172, ll. 8-24. He could not recall specifically discussing with Petitioner if he wanted to go forward with the plea after the State made a recommendation and stated that he made “strategic decisions” as they went through the plea. App. 172, l. 25-App. 173, l. 14. He testified that he did not move to withdraw Petitioner’s plea and would rely on Petitioner’s recollection as to whether he advised him of that option. App. 195, l. 19-App. 196, l. 3. Counsel Sellers confirmed that in discussing the plea with Petitioner he specifically told him that the State had agreed to not make any recommendation as to sentencing. App. 175, ll. 20-24; App. 198, ll. 17-21.

Petitioner testified repeatedly that he understood the risks of proceeding on his PCR application. App. 200, l. 19-App. 202, l. 21; App. 215, ll. 15-17. Petitioner stated that Counsel Sellers told him that there would be a “no time recommendation” which he understood to mean time-served or whatever Counsel Sellers thought was best. He stated that Counsel Sellers did not explain what he meant when he told him there would be no time recommendation but that he did believe it meant the State would not ask for a particular sentence. Petitioner testified that if he had known the State was going to ask for a particular sentence that he would not have pled guilty and would have gone to trial despite the amount of time he was facing. App. 202, l. 22-App. 205, l. 7; App. 206, ll. 14-18. Petitioner testified that Counsel Sellers should have objected when

the State asked for a specific sentence because that was not the plea deal that he had agreed to, and he should have been able to withdraw his plea. App. 206, l. 19-App. 207, l. 4.

Petitioner testified that Counsel Sellers never informed him that he could stand down on the plea and did not ask him what he wanted to do once the State requested a specific sentence. App. 207, l. 11-App. 208, l. 9. Petitioner discussed the plea hearing with Counsel Sellers after he had been sentenced and asked him why the State recommended time when it was supposed to be a “no time recommendation” to which Counsel Sellers responded that sentencing was ultimately up to the judge. He also stated that Counsel Sellers filed the motion to reconsider the sentence without speaking with him and that Counsel Sellers did not inform him that he could move to withdraw the plea. App. 209, ll. 2-25.

Petitioner testified that he was not made aware of the September 7 email offer and that Counsel Sellers had only told him that Luck Campbell was going to offer ten or more years. He stated that he understood that offer was that the State would not make a recommendation and Counsel Sellers had informed him that on the morning of the plea it would be a “no time recommendation” which is why he would ask for three to five years incarceration. App. 212, l. 12-App. 215, l. 14. On cross-examination, Petitioner testified that he did not want the charges dismissed but wanted to take them trial. He stated he thought there would be a “no time recommendation” once he pled guilty and he thought that he could get a time served sentence at the plea. App. 217, l. 19-App. 218, l. 15.

The State recalled Counsel Sellers to the stand. Counsel Sellers testified that he never told Petitioner that he would receive a time-served sentence. He clarified that he explained the plea offer to Petitioner in detail that the State would not make a recommendation as to sentencing

but that he never said the State would make a recommendation of no time. App. 219, l. 18-App. 220, l. 25.

An order of dismissal was filed on April 22, 2022. App. 235. The PCR court ruled as a matter of law that Counsel Sellers could not be found ineffective for failing to move to enforce the plea agreement because Judge Lee had made a specific finding that there was not a violation of the plea agreement, and that decision was never appealed. The PCR court also ruled that Counsel Sellers had “articulated a valid, well-reasoned strategic basis for not interjection or otherwise objecting during the plea proceeding as it would have likely let [sic] to the plea falling apart and all-but-certain conviction at trial (at least to the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge).” App. 255. The PCR court ruled that there was no term requiring the State to remain silent as to sentencing.

The court further ruled that Petitioner could not prove prejudice because the plea court had stated independent reasons for its sentence and Petitioner had not shown that his proceeding would have been different had counsel advised him that the State would make a recommendation on sentencing. The court further stated that Petitioner had not pled guilty because he believed the state would not make a sentencing recommendation but because he believed he was getting a time served sentence. App. 256. The order of dismissal repeated its reasoning in each of the twenty-two grounds raised in Petitioner’s PCR application. App. 235-269.

## ARGUMENT

Plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to move to enforce the plea offer or object to the violation of the plea offer when the State first recommended a sentence of fifteen to twenty years incarceration. In the alternative, if this Court finds that the State did not violate the plea agreement, Petitioner's guilty plea was rendered unknowing and involuntary where he entered his plea based on plea counsel's misstatement of the terms of the plea agreement and where counsel did not afford Petitioner the opportunity to withdraw his plea once the State recommended a specific sentence.

Counsel Sellers argued consistently and vehemently that the plea agreement contained the term that the State would not make a recommendation regarding sentencing. He confirmed that he advised Petitioner that the terms of the offer included that the State would not make a recommendation as to sentencing. When the State reneged on that promise, defense counsel had a duty to move to enforce the plea agreement with the solicitor's office and the failure to perform that duty was ineffective assistance of counsel. See Jordan v. State, 297 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988); Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000).

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