RECEIVED

Oct 23 2023

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000710

GEORDI JERELL HEYWARD,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101188

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court correctly denied relief because Smalls failed to prove his guilty plea was not intelligently and voluntarily made, and counsel acted reasonably by seeking to have Petitioner resentenced rather than withdrawing the plea.

Evidence supports the PCR court's findings that Petitioner's plea was knowing and voluntary, despite counsel's mistaken belief that the State would not take a position on sentencing during the plea. Counsel acted reasonably by seeking to have Petitioner resentenced rather than withdraw his plea, as the plea agreement was beneficial to Petitioner. Petitioner has not shown prejudice because the solicitor's request that Petitioner be sentenced to 15–20 years' incarceration had no effect on the plea court's sentence, and counsel credibly testified Petitioner did not want to go to trial as the evidence against him was overwhelming. Certiorari should be denied.

a. Applicable law.

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee defendants the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel's conduct "was so ineffective as to require reversal" of the applicant's conviction or sentence. Id. at 687. First, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. Id. at 668; Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

The first prong—constitutional deficiency—is "necessarily linked to the practice and expectations of the legal community." Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010). In order to

prove deficient performance, the applicant must show counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Representation is constitutionally ineffective only if counsel's conduct "so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process" that the defendant was denied a fair proceeding. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686. Accordingly, "[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or an adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; see also *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 6 (2003) ("The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.").

The second, or "prejudice" prong of *Strickland* is rooted in the purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691–92. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Id.* At 694. A reasonable probability is a probability "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* A claim of ineffective assistance of guilty plea counsel requires the applicant present evidence satisfying two prongs: first, evidence that counsel's performance was deficient; and second, evidence that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985). The question here is whether the applicant, if correctly informed of circumstances surrounding the plea, would have pleaded guilty—not

whether counsel would have still advised him or her to plead guilty. Turner v. State, 335 S.C. 382, 385, 517 S.E.2d 442, 444 (1999).

b. The State did not violate the terms of the plea agreement.

As an initial matter, the record demonstrates the State did not violate the plea agreement with Petitioner. At the outset of the plea hearing, the solicitor stated the terms of the agreement:

With respect to recommendations, Your Honor, the State is dismissing three counts of human trafficking, as well as . . . two counts of contributing to the delinquency of a minor. This was all one incident. He is pleading guilty to this one charge from that incident, and we've agreed to run it concurrent to the probation revocation which will be heard at a later date. Other than that, there are no additional recommendations with respect to the agreements in this case.

(App.3–4). At the PCR hearing, the solicitor testified the State did not agree to remain silent with respect to sentencing.

The solicitor explained at the plea hearing and again at the PCR hearing that the only agreement in this case was to dismiss the trafficking and contributing to the delinquency of a minor charges, and to recommend concurrent sentences with Petitioner's probation revocation, which carried a 15-year suspended sentence. (App.110–11, 114). Petitioner's plea to CSCM was an "open plea," meaning both parties were free to request whichever sentence they believed was appropriate. (App. 111).

In Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 114, 531 S.E.2d 294, 295 (2000), the Supreme Court found counsel was ineffective for failing to object when solicitor requested maximum sentence despite an agreement not "to make a **sentencing request** or recommendation." Id. (emphasis added). It is clear from the opinion there was an explicit agreement that the State would not request any particular sentence in that case.

That did not happen in this case. The solicitor had previously offered to dismiss all companion charges if Petitioner would plead guilty to CSCM second degree and one count of

trafficking without recommendation. The most reasonable interpretation of this offer is that Petitioner would plead without the benefit of any recommendations of leniency by the State in exchange for the dismissal of the other charges. But even if the offer could have been construed as a promise not to request any particular sentence, Petitioner rejected the offer and countered with a request to plead to CSCM 3rd degree. The solicitor made a new offer to drop the trafficking charges if Petitioner would plead guilty to the CSCM, and this offer made no mention of any recommendation. (App.40). The State did not promise to remain silent, as reflected by the on-the-record statement of the offer before the plea and the solicitor's testimony at the PCR hearing. The trial court, after hearing from both attorneys and viewing the written plea offers, correctly held the State did not violate any plea agreement. (App.43–44).

Furthermore, this claim cannot be raised at this stage in the proceedings. While Petitioner claims he was “denied the opportunity to have the appellate court” rule on the issue because it was not preserved for review, Petitioner waived his right to direct appeal when he voluntarily withdrew his appeal. This was his avenue to challenge the trial court's ruling. The ruling is the law of the case and cannot be challenged at this stage. See e.g., State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 28, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012) (“Since Petitioner does not challenge the use of this conviction to impeach Bush's credibility, this ruling, right or wrong, becomes the law of the case.”); Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland County, 394 S.C. 154, 714 S.E.2d 869 (2011) (stating an unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, becomes the law of the case); Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 662, 594 S.E.2d 462, 471 (2004) (holding when a ruling goes unchallenged, right or wrong, it becomes the law of the case); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 525 S.E.2d 514 (2000) (observing where the appealing party does not challenge a ruling, it becomes the law of the case

and will not be considered by a reviewing court). Regardless, there was no basis to withdraw Petitioner's plea.

c. Counsel sought to compel compliance with the purported deal by seeking reconsideration of Petitioner's sentence.

Petitioner claims counsel should have moved to compel compliance with the purported deal to remain silent at sentencing. This is effectively what counsel did by filing a motion for reconsideration. At the hearing, counsel raised his allegation that the State had not complied with the plea agreement and requested that Petitioner be resentenced. (App.39). The trial court correctly rejected Petitioner's assertions that the plea agreement was violated. But more importantly, the court explained its sentence was not based on the solicitor's request, but rather was based on the facts of the case, Petitioner's prior record, and his status as a probationer. (App.43). Defense counsel agreed that the solicitor's request did not change Petitioner's sentence. (App.197). Accordingly, Petitioner could not have shown prejudice on direct appeal because the solicitor's request had no impact on his sentence.

d. Counsel provided competent representation by filing a motion to reconsider sentence rather than seeking to withdraw the plea entirely.

Defense counsel testified that he believed there was a term in the plea agreement that the State would not make any recommendation or request as to sentence based on the emails and contemporaneous conversations with the prosecution team. He was surprised when the solicitor made a request for a sentence of fifteen to twenty years at the end of the plea. However, he testified this was after the extremely involved mother of one of the victims had forcefully requested the court sentence Petitioner to the maximum sentence possible, which had a great impact on the court and sentencing (as evidenced by Judge Lee's comments during the motion to reconsider hearing). (App.152). When questioned as to why he did not immediately object, ask to stand-down, or otherwise bring this purported plea agreement to the court as soon as the State

made its sentencing request at the plea, counsel testified he made a strategic decision not to do so because this was an open plea (meaning the court was free to sentence Petitioner to whatever sentence it deemed appropriate) and he still believed that his Petitioner would receive a sentence in between the two ranges recommended by him and the State. (App.152). Counsel elaborated that he always believed his client would receive a sentence of eight to ten years of imprisonment based on the crime, which he conveyed repeatedly to Petitioner and his mother, but he strategically requested a low sentence to counteract what he anticipated to be a forceful request from the victim's mother for a maximum sentence in the hope and belief that the court would "split the baby" and give him a sentence around ten years of imprisonment.

Counsel also testified that there was no legitimate defense to the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge based on the overwhelming evidence of his guilt—including Petitioner's own admission to having sexual relations with the fifteen-year-old girl. Based on this, he did not want to object or otherwise move to withdrawal or stop the plea because he understood that this would stop plea negotiations and Petitioner would be facing a trial on all of the charges "with no offer" and an all-but-certain conviction and harsher sentence of potentially seventy years. (App.155). It is this very real concern that caused him to proceed forward with the "really, really good offer" to resolve all pending charges, which he adamantly testified was still favorable even with the State requesting a sentence in the higher range. (App.156). Counsel testified that Petitioner **did not want to proceed to trial** on these charges. (App.197–98). He also testified repeatedly that Petitioner always admitted he was guilty of the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge and had no defense to this charge.

- e. Smalls failed to prove that his attorney was ineffective such that his plea was not intelligently and voluntarily made, and that he would have proceeded to trial but for counsel's performance.**

Even if counsel was deficient, Petitioner did not show prejudice. Defense counsel testified Petitioner had no defense to the CSCM charge and did not want to go to trial. (App.197–98). While Petitioner incredibly claimed he would not have pled guilty but for counsel’s failure to enforce the purported plea agreement, defense counsel credibly testified this was not what actually happened. Cf. Jordan v. State, 297 S.C. 52, 54, 374 S.E.2d 683, 685 (1988) (finding prejudice due to defendant’s “vehemence” about going to trial). Evidence of Petitioner’s guilt, including his confession, was overwhelming. Evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that Petitioner failed to show he would have proceeded to trial but for counsel’s alleged errors. Certiorari should be denied.


CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny certiorari.